

10/19/2017

Page 1

DETROIT BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS

EVENING COMMUNITY MEETING

Thursday, October 19, 2017

3:00 p.m.

DETROIT PUBLIC SAFETY HEADQUARTERS

1301 Third Street

DETROIT, MICHIGAN 48226

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

COMMISSIONERS:

- WILLIE E. BELL, Commissioner (Dist. 4)
- ELIZABETH BROOKS, Commissioner At-Large
- WILLIE E. BURTON, Commissioner (Dist. 5)
- REGINALD CRAWFORD, Commissioner (Dist. 3)
- EVA GARZA DEWAELESCHE, Acting Chairperson
- CONRAD MALLETT, JR., Commissioner At-Large
- DERRICK SANDERS, Commissioner At-Large
- BISHOP EDGAR VANN, II, Commissioner (Dist. 2)

- GREGORY HICKS, Secretary to the Board
- ROBERT BROWN, Executive Manager

REPRESENTING OFFICE OF THE CHIEF OF POLICE:

CHIEF JAMES WHITE

1 Detroit, Michigan

2 October 19, 2017

3 3:00 p.m.

4

5 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Good afternoon,
6 everybody, and welcome to today's Board of the Police
7 Commissioners meeting. I'd like to -- my name is Eva
8 Garza Dewaelsche. I'm the vice chair, and I will be
9 sitting in for our chair, Ms. Lisa Carter, who is out
10 of town. I'd like to ask Bishop Vann if he could lead
11 us in prayer.

12 COMMISSIONER VANN: May we pray.

13 (Invocation given at 3:01 p.m.)

14 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Thank you, Bishop
15 Vann. Could we please introduce ourselves us starting
16 from my left? Commissioner Bishop Vann?

17 COMMISSIONER VANN: Yes. I'm Commissioner
18 Vann from District 2, Northwest Detroit.

19 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Commissioner
20 Reginald Crawford, District 3.

21 COMMISSIONER BELL: Commissioner Willie
22 Bell, District 4.

23 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Commissioner
24 Elizabeth Brooks, at-large.

25 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Commissioner Conrad

1 Mallett.

2 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Commissioner Derrick
3 Sanders, at-large.

4 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Thank you,
5 commissioners. Commissioner Lisa Carter and
6 Commissioner Richard Shelby are both excused for
7 today's meeting.

8 Commissioners, you've had the agenda for
9 today, October 19th. Is there a motion to approve?

10 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: I so move, Madam
11 Chair.

12 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Second.

13 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: It's been moved
14 and seconded. All those in favor indicate by saying
15 aye.

16 THE BOARD: Aye.

17 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Opposed?

18 Thank you. The agenda's approved. You've
19 also had the minutes sent to you in advance for
20 October 12th. Is there a motion to approve the
21 minutes?

22 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: So move.

23 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Supported.

24 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: All those in
25 favor, indicate by saying aye.

1 THE BOARD: Aye.

2 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Aye. Opposed?

3 Thank you. The minutes are approved. At
4 this time I'd like to ask Mr. Hicks if he could please
5 introduce the BOPC staff.

6 MR. HICKS: Thank you, Madam Chair. And
7 for the record, you do have a quorum for today's
8 meeting. I would also want to say just before we do
9 the introductions, as a matter of practice, we have in
10 the back, for citizens who are attending the meeting,
11 cards in order to sign in so that they will alert us
12 if they want to address the board. So that's -- that
13 will come later on in the agenda, but I do want to,
14 early on at the top of our meeting, indicate that
15 those cards are available.

16 I also wanted to say that Sergeant Quinn is
17 taping our meeting, Media Services is providing the
18 audio-visual service today, and Susanne Gorman is the
19 court reporter for the day. And, as typical, I want
20 to indicate that, in terms of staff, Gail Oxendine is
21 sitting on the front row over here, who is the
22 director of human resources.

23 And then to our immediate staff -- Robert
24 Brown, the executive manager, is to my right; and I
25 see Mr. Wyrick, board attorney, in the front row;

1 Ms. White, who is a policy person; and then Mr. Akbar,
2 who is the acting chief investigator. And Mr. Akbar
3 typically takes the time in order to introduce any of
4 his staff who is present.

5 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Okay. Does that
6 conclude --

7 MR. HICKS: Mr. Akbar is going to --

8 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Oh, I'm sorry.
9 Yes, Mr. Akbar.

10 MR. AKBAR: Good afternoon, board and
11 community at large. I'm the interim chief
12 investigator, Lawrence Akbar. It's my pleasure to
13 introduce my staff. Acting supervisor, Investigator
14 Sonya Sloan, Senior Investigator, Rosalia Madrigal,
15 investigator -- I mean, Senior Investigator, Rivera,
16 Investigator Carolyn Nichols, Investigator Coleman,
17 and last but not least, Investigator Daniel Callaway.
18 That's all present today.

19 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Thank you, sir.

20 MR. AKBAR: Thank you.

21 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Assistant Chief
22 White, would you like to introduce your staff?

23 CHIEF WHITE: Good afternoon, Board.
24 Greetings and regrets from Chief of Police
25 James E. Craig, who's at the Major Cities Chiefs

1 Conference. I am Assistant Chief James White as you
2 indicated, support operations, and I will have the
3 staff stand up and introduce themselves.

4 SERGEANT HEWITT: Sergeant Gerald Hewitt,
5 officer chief.

6 SERGEANT: Sergeant Romel Alexander,
7 officer of support of operations.

8 LIEUTENANT HAYES: Lieutenant Franklin
9 Hayes, secondary point. (Inaudible.)

10 SERGEANT JACKSON: Sergeant Will Jackson,
11 office of (inaudible) policing.

12 SERGEANT WATKINS: Sergeant John Watkins,
13 planning and deployment.

14 LIEUTENANT SIMS: William Sims, lieutenant,
15 civil rights.

16 SERGEANT CAMPBELL: Sergeant Larry
17 Campbell, president of Standards Bureau.

18 COMMANDER BLISS: Commander Mark Bliss,
19 Professional Standards Bureau.

20 COMMANDER BRYANT: Commander Bryant, major
21 crimes.

22 CAPTAIN TUCKER: Captain Tucker, major
23 crimes.

24 CHIEF WHITE: That is it. I'm sorry.
25 Thank you.

1 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Thank you, Chief.
2 Do we have any elected officials or representatives in
3 our audience? Elected officials or representatives?
4 Hearing none. Then I'd like to give a brief report.
5 First, we have our DPOA president, Mr. Mark Diaz.
6 Thank you for being here.

7 I'll give a brief report and -- but before
8 I start I'd like to say that on behalf of the board,
9 as we always do at the beginning of our meetings, we
10 want to express our support and concerns for fallen
11 officers and their families.

12 You may want to add some updates, Chief
13 White, if you have any information, but we do have two
14 off-duty police officers who were also recently
15 injured in an auto-related accident. One of the
16 officers was hit in connection with a vehicular chase
17 involving Hazel Park Police Department, and I would
18 like to ask the chief's office to maybe provide us
19 with an update.

20 Also, as chair for today, I would like to
21 remind us that while several recent events have
22 disappeared from the news headlines, we are still
23 thinking of the people in Las Vegas and Puerto Rico,
24 the Caribbean and southern gulf regions, California,
25 and other locations devastated by acts of mother

1 nature or human hands. We pray and hope for speedy
2 assistance to reach all the people in need. Thank
3 you.

4 At this time -- oh, I'm sorry. And we also
5 have two short presentations from staff. We have
6 several items that will require the board to move into
7 closed session. Under the Open Meetings Act, we are
8 allowed to close our meeting to discuss personnel
9 matters. These personnel items will be taken under
10 new business after our committee reports and oral
11 communications from the audience. We have adjusted
12 the agenda to allow for those who want to leave before
13 the closed session. Remember that after the closed
14 session the board will reconvene to vote on any items
15 from the closed session.

16 At this time does the chief have a report,
17 please?

18 CHIEF WHITE: Yes. I'll start with the
19 crime report. Crime, violent crime, continues to
20 trend in the right direction. We're experiencing a 6
21 percent reduction in homicide; 5 percent reduction in
22 sexual assault; 14 percent robbery reduction; 13
23 percent carjacking; 5 percent aggravated assault; 11
24 percent nonfatal shooting; and 7 percent overall
25 violent crime reduction.

1 And though these are great numbers,
2 certainly we are not applauding any crime. One crime
3 is one too many. So we continue to work -- the men
4 and women of the Detroit Police Department continue to
5 work diligently to resolve this crime issue in the
6 city of Detroit, but we are happy to report that the
7 crime is trending in the right direction. We also
8 have a 62 percent closure rate on homicide.

9 Commander, if I may, could you please
10 report the closure rate? I thought this report
11 reflected a different number.

12 COMMANDER BRYANT: No. At this time --

13 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Could you please
14 come to the microphone? Thank you.

15 COMMANDER BRYANT: Hi. Commander Bryant,
16 for the record. No. At this time, sir, it is 59
17 percent to date, but we are anticipating that going up
18 with a couple closures in the next couple days.

19 CHIEF WHITE: 59 percent closure rate.

20 COMMANDER BRYANT: Yes.

21 CHIEF WHITE: Thank you, ma'am. Moving
22 on -- I don't know if the board is aware -- or maybe
23 they saw in the media -- I did report the information
24 through the board, I believe it was Mr. Brown, that
25 the chief has provided an update on the incident

1 involving Meijer and an officer of the Detroit Police
2 Department. The department has made an internal
3 decision not to seek charges on the subject involved
4 in the incident with the officer. We are continuing
5 to look into the matter. There's an open and active
6 investigation into the matter that's being conducted
7 by professional standards as well as detectives of the
8 12th Precinct, and that's where we are, and that's
9 where we stand currently with that particular issue.

10 The two officers injured -- the officer
11 that was injured in the high-speed chase involving an
12 outside agency off-duty -- my understanding is that he
13 has -- he's at home resting comfortably. That was my
14 last update. And with regards to the detective at the
15 7th Precinct, Detective Sims, he is also home resting
16 comfortably, and he's dealing with some serious health
17 issues that he's attempting to resolve, and we ask
18 that you just keep all of our officers in prayer.

19 Reported out to the board -- eleven
20 injuries to officers over the past year, and, you
21 know, certainly because we don't talk about them as
22 often as we should publicly, those officers continue
23 to struggle with getting, you know, some semblance of
24 normalcy back into their lives, not necessarily to
25 come back to work. We just pray that they recover and

1 get a quality of life for them and their families.

2 And then lastly, for the board's benefit,
3 we've finalized on the construction contractor for the
4 Merrill Plaisance facility. You will remember that
5 Merrill Plaisance is going to be the home of the
6 office of the chief investigator, and we look forward
7 to working with this construction company, and I
8 believe today they did the final paperwork on the
9 construction company. The transition will take place
10 over the next 12 months, and, of course, the board
11 will be part of the programming of the space, and that
12 is my report. I have a report coming on the body-worn
13 cameras with planning in a moment.

14 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Thank you, Chief.
15 Are there any questions or comments? Commissioner?
16 Yes. Go ahead.

17 COMMISSIONER BELL: I have some concern in
18 reference to the Meijer incident and the press
19 conference that was stated initially concerning the
20 officer involved. And then after that we had to --
21 well, the chief had to retreat from his position. I
22 think that the chief has a right to speak, as we well
23 know, but I'm concerned about the officer involved and
24 the public image in terms of making statements and all
25 the facts are not in.

1 And people rush to judgment behind the
2 chief of police statements. And sometimes I don't
3 think it's fair to the officer involved, and all the
4 parties involved, without knowing all the facts and
5 you responding in a short period of time.

6 I understand the whole issue about public
7 relations and all that, but it concerns me that we
8 rush to make a certain statement. I'm not going to
9 get into detail, but I think you understand what I'm
10 trying to convey at this particular forum here, 'cause
11 people respond to those statements that it's a
12 wrongdoing, and -- and we don't have all the facts at
13 that particular time. So I would caution that -- in
14 all fairness -- that we weigh all of that in terms of
15 holding those on-the-spot, quickly -- press conference
16 in reference to the officer involved -- regardless of
17 the circumstance.

18 I just -- it seems like it happens quite
19 often that we respond initially, and we don't have all
20 the facts. Not to say we have to have all the facts,
21 but it's almost like, okay, this has transpired, and I
22 see some wrongdoing here. I just question, is that,
23 being professional, how we should respond.

24 CHIEF WHITE: May I?

25 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir.

1 CHIEF WHITE: Through the chair, I will
2 certainly share your concerns with the chief of
3 police; however, if we recall the initial press
4 conference, the chief indicated at that time that we
5 had limited information and that we were going to
6 continue an active investigation and update the
7 community and the board accordingly. I think we have
8 to look at each circumstance independently and based
9 on the facts that are presented to us at the time,
10 and, quite frankly, the optics of the circumstance.

11 We had a situation -- without getting into
12 the weeds of issues, because it's still an active
13 investigation. But certainly we had a -- an incident
14 that the community had the right to know what we knew
15 at the time. It was an ugly situation. Every time
16 you use force, it's not a pretty sight. But in
17 addition to that, we had to weigh communication with
18 the community based on what we had at the time and
19 just to provide them with the fact that we're going to
20 be transparent based upon what we had. Had we said
21 nothing, I think that would have been inappropriate.

22 The chief provided information that we had
23 at the time. We had limited information. We had no
24 audio. We had one or two angles of video. I will
25 tell you that more information came to light. A very,

1 very good investigation was done by both internal
2 affairs as well as members of the 12th Precinct. More
3 facts came to light and, again, being transparent and,
4 frankly, maintaining credibility in the community, we
5 had to bring that information forward.

6 So, you know, if -- if -- had we not, and
7 continued down path that we were with prosecution,
8 frankly, it would have been improper. So I support
9 the fact that the chief of police made that decision.
10 I was part of that decision-making metric, and,
11 frankly, we move on from here. The investigation is
12 still active, and we will be providing yet another
13 update as we get more information.

14 COMMISSIONER BELL: Madam Chair, I'd just
15 like --

16 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Yes.

17 COMMISSIONER BELL: -- to make one more
18 comment. Well, my observation -- if I was responding
19 initially, I would say with caution what I witnessed
20 was improper, but I did not make that statement. But
21 what I heard, that this information -- what he
22 witnessed was proper. Do you understand what I'm
23 saying?

24 So it's an opinion there that we could have
25 opposing opinions sometimes, but we -- if we would

1 pause, which, I wanted to pause. Because what I
2 witnessed, I don't want to respond initially. I had
3 some contact and reference to -- what did you see?
4 And what I saw, I was not pleased with what I have
5 known just on what this department presented to me
6 about the use of baton. He went through it quite
7 thoroughly, including yourself. So what I witnessed,
8 I was concerned. But I just pretty much did not make
9 a public statement to that. That's the point I'm
10 trying make.

11 CHIEF WHITE: And I understand that.

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay. I just --

13 CHIEF WHITE: If I can make just one last
14 point: I did, in fact, watch the video 57 times, each
15 frame, and so, certainly, you know, having been a part
16 of Use of Force consent judgment, and have studied
17 uses of force across this country, I will tell you
18 that there's never a time that using a baton looks
19 pretty, ever. So if some circumstances were present,
20 then the acts that you witness, as ugly as they are in
21 that video if certain factors were present, would have
22 been appropriate if those facts were there.

23 Unfortunately, the facts that we had at the
24 time changed. The facts that we had when the initial
25 statements were made supported the subsequent act, and

1 so when that changed, we felt compelled, because we
2 have a good community reputation. Our community
3 supports us, and we felt compelled to communicate
4 those changes to the community.

5 But your -- your concerns are duly noted,
6 and I will certainly share them with the chief of
7 police, and I appreciate the opportunity to present.

8 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.

9 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you.

10 COMMISSIONER VANN: Madam Chair, somewhat
11 in that same vein -- and I understand the -- the
12 leadership incumbency of the chief to defend officers.
13 I -- I get that. I'm a CEO. I understand what it
14 means to defend people that you have working for you.
15 I also know that we're in a very litigious society,
16 and a lot of times statements that are used at certain
17 points, especially in media, are used against us in
18 court or used against us in a lawsuit, and I think
19 that's some of the caution that maybe I hear from
20 Commissioner Bell, if I'm interpreting him right.

21 And I hear it from people in the community,
22 by the way. And I know we have a community
23 responsibility to go back to them with facts. I think
24 it's important that when we're not exactly sure
25 investigations are continuing, et cetera, that's

1 normally what's said in most law enforcement circles.
2 Rather than rushing to any judgments and -- again, I'm
3 taking into account that officers are being supported
4 and protected as much as they possibly can by
5 leadership, and I respect that.

6 But I would -- I would hope that we'd be
7 careful a little bit about it as well because of the
8 litigious nature of statements and press conferences
9 that are given, just so that we know -- until we know
10 exactly where things are going. That's just a
11 comment, but I -- I kind of hear what Commissioner
12 Bell is saying, and I've heard a number of people,
13 significant people in the community, who've had some
14 criticism as to some of those media pieces.

15 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Thank you,
16 Commissioner.

17 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Through the chair.

18 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Yes,
19 Commissioner.

20 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, ma'am. Also,
21 to -- I'm not going to belabor this or expound on what
22 Commissioner Bell said; however, I do concur -- and
23 also Bishop Commissioner Vann. And -- and like
24 Commissioner Vann, I received a number of phone calls.
25 We had a number of social media posts and stuff in

1 reference to statements that were made. So I'll just
2 leave that there, but also, too, on the issue of
3 Meijer, where are we in terms of the status of
4 secondary employment? Has that changed since this
5 incident? We still have an officer there, or are
6 there two officers there?

7 CHIEF WHITE: Well, whatever major
8 incident -- through the chair. Whatever major
9 incident happens, you know, we don't miss an
10 opportunity to learn from it and make improvements, so
11 we've made some changes. Number one, the officer in
12 question has been suspended from, certainly, the
13 Meijer account, and suspended also from secondary
14 employment till the conclusion and findings -- final
15 conclusion of this investigation.

16 With regards to one or two officers being
17 at Meijer, I've met with the lieutenant, Lieutenant
18 Franklin Hayes, who runs secondary employment. He's a
19 very conscientious person. He has had several
20 meetings. In fact, one of the -- I believe the CEO --
21 I don't want to misspeak, but a high-ranking member of
22 the Meijer corporation has reached out, and they have
23 a meeting scheduled, and we're going to make some
24 improvements with that contract.

25 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, sir.

1 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Thank you. I
2 just want to note that Commissioner Burton joined us a
3 few minutes ago. Thank you, Commissioner.

4 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Thank you.

5 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Any other
6 comments or questions?

7 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Yes, Madam Chair.

8 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Yes,
9 Commissioner.

10 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Just wanted to weigh
11 in as that -- you know, regarding the Meijer
12 situation. You know, I've received numerous phone
13 calls from constituents in the 5th District. You
14 know, the community, you know -- they support our
15 local law enforcement; they support our officers. But
16 they want the board and they want the department to,
17 you know, take actions and do its due diligence as far
18 as findings within an investigation.

19 What is the policy of use of force? How
20 much force does it take to detain a person is what my
21 constituents are reaching out, you know? You know, we
22 congratulate and applaud officers when they doing
23 right, but when you have a situation like the Meijer
24 situation, we cannot stand back and do nothing from a
25 board of police commissioner's standpoint or a police

1 department standpoint or the municipality standpoint.

2 You know, that -- you know, was the officer
3 working, currently working, at that time? Was he on
4 secondary employment? Was he definitely in a uniform?
5 How long is it going to take, you know, before the
6 department or the board takes action? But when our
7 officers are -- are doing a tremendous job in the
8 community, we support them. We congratulate them.
9 The community supports them, but we cannot stand back
10 and do nothing, you know? We're talking about use of
11 force, and we talk about that across the country. Now
12 it happens here at home. What do we do about that?
13 Where do we go from here?

14 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Okay,
15 Commissioner. Chief?

16 CHIEF WHITE: If I may, through the chair.
17 Certainly we are not engaged in the act of doing
18 nothing. The department has taken significant action,
19 direct action, aggressive action, but the officer is
20 entitled to due process, and as I indicated earlier,
21 certainly anytime you use force and you use a baton,
22 it is not a pretty sight.

23 The department, on average, has 503,000
24 citizen contacts a year. Overwhelmingly, we do a
25 phenomenal job, and we don't have instances as the one

1 we just saw. The circumstances, as it relates to
2 that, are still unfolding. As I indicated initially,
3 we had one set of facts. We found more facts, and
4 we're going to probably find even more facts as we
5 interview more people and more people come forward.

6 With regards to what is force -- this word
7 was present when we established our force policies,
8 their best practices. We are tapped by agencies
9 around the country to look at our force policy. We
10 have a very aggressive use of force policy -- category
11 one through category three -- and we follow a force
12 continuum that the State of Michigan mandates at the
13 Michigan Law Enforcement Training Council. So we are
14 right in lock, step, and line with every effective
15 agency in the United States of America.

16 And I will tell you what the officer was
17 dealing with. When you asked what's force, it's
18 everything from officer's presence to, unfortunately,
19 fatal force, and everything in between, based on the
20 amount of force that the officer has to deal with.
21 Our officers practice great restraint. When you look
22 at the 11 officers that we have right now that are
23 fighting for their lives, fighting for their health.
24 As it relates to the circumstances that they've
25 encountered, of the 11 officer that are fighting for

1 their lives, there are three citizens that have been
2 injured in these contacts.

3 So I think we practice great restraint. I
4 think we have a great relationship with our community.
5 I think we have a tremendous group of leaders. We
6 have a management awareness system that brings
7 officers to our attention, that needs to be managed
8 more effectively, and we do a very good job at that,
9 but the problem is force has to be used. Force is a
10 tool in a toolbox for a police officer, and things
11 like this will happen.

12 I think the chief has led from the front on
13 this issue. The officer has been set down, and if
14 it's found after his due-process rights that he was
15 not acting in accordance with our rules and
16 regulations, we will make the necessary corrections in
17 this organization.

18 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you, Chief.
19 Moving on to the next item. We have BOPC standing and
20 as -- I'm sorry. I'm sorry -- a presentation to the
21 board by Attorney Wyrick on curfew, first.

22 MR. WYRICK: Good afternoon, Honorable
23 Board.

24 BOARD: Good afternoon.

25 MR. WYRICK: Through the chair. My report

1 pertains to the emergency special curfew that has been
2 implemented in the city of Detroit, specifically just
3 for a three-day period, the three-day period being
4 between October 29th and 31st of this year, 2017. It
5 has been implemented many times before since the early
6 1980s. Our city was scarred with the image of quote,
7 unquote, having "Devil's Night" in which we saw a
8 tremendous increase through that three-day period
9 between October 29th and 31st, in the number of arsons
10 and vandalism that occurs to properties within the
11 city of Detroit.

12 Very specifically, during that time way
13 back in 1984, the arsons during that three-day period
14 alone was 810 arsons in the city of Detroit. Due to
15 the zealous efforts of the citizens of Detroit, the
16 public servants of Detroit, over that 30- or 31-year
17 period, a program, a very effective program, has been
18 implemented called Angels' Night, which, due to the
19 tireless efforts and the dedicated efforts of the
20 citizens and the public servants, we've seen a
21 tremendous drive during that three-day period of time
22 down to, actually, around 26 arsons as of the last
23 time I retrieved a record back in 2015. Very --

24 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Which is -- which is
25 the average arsons -- average fires on any given

1 night.

2 MR. WYRICK: Right.

3 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Just so that we're
4 clear. So that's -- that -- that is representative of
5 what goes on by accident on a regular basis.

6 MR. WYRICK: So, consistent with that,
7 Commissioner Mallett, there's a sense of normalcy
8 during that three-day period, which 30 or 31 years
9 ago, of course, there was not. That was extremely
10 problematic. This falls under Section 33 of our city
11 code, which actually pertains to minors.

12 There's a general curfew that pertains to
13 minors 17 years of age or under, in general, anyway.
14 Where this curfew during that three-day period
15 changes, in the essence, their lifestyle, is that
16 during the three-day period the curfew for 15- and
17 16-year-olds or under goes down to actually 7:00 p.m.
18 at night during daylight savings time where it's
19 typically -- during the curfew periods -- it is
20 actually 10:00 p.m. at night and 11:00 p.m. at night
21 for 17-year-olds.

22 If minors are caught violating the curfew,
23 for those that are still considered juveniles, it can
24 be considered a civil infraction. For those that are
25 17 years old, it can be considered a misdemeanor with

1 a fine of up to \$500.

2 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Thank you. Are
3 there any questions or comments?

4 COMMISSIONER VANN: Madam Chair --

5 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Yes,
6 Commissioner.

7 COMMISSIONER VANN: I've been really
8 curious, as Commissioner Mallett has so aptly pointed
9 out, that if we don't have a problem, why are we still
10 talking about Angels' Night? What -- what is that
11 about? I just don't think it's relevant for us to do
12 that and, you know, to take one day or one weekend or
13 one three-day period and act as if that's such an
14 emergency when there's crimes and other kinds of
15 things happening on all kinds of days and everything.

16 All of our numbers for a number of years
17 now have pointed to a normalcy during that particular
18 period of time. I just don't understand why we're
19 doing it.

20 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Madam Chair, if I
21 might --

22 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Yes, sir.

23 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Bishop Vann, you
24 remember that during the period when Dennis Archer was
25 the mayor --

1 COMMISSIONER VANN: I do.

2 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: -- there was a
3 moment where the mayor's office thought that this
4 particular series of events was behind us. And, in
5 fact, there was not a vigorous presence of -- as our
6 attorneys indicated -- of public servants including
7 police and fire and citizens, and things kind of --
8 things blossomed in a way that was not positive. So I
9 do think that part of what we are doing, Bishop, is,
10 in fact, proscriptive. We are remaining in front of
11 this. I don't know when you actually could make the
12 administrative decision that you're no longer going to
13 engage in the effort.

14 People would take advantage, I think, of
15 the absence of the 30,000 citizens that are on the
16 streets to be sure that no more further damage is
17 done, and I just don't know when. I don't have any
18 insight. I know that when we have not, then there are
19 people that have responded to the opportunity as
20 opposed to accepting the responsibility.

21 COMMISSIONER VANN: Well, that was over 20
22 years ago. I remember that.

23 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Yeah.

24 COMMISSIONER VANN: But I just -- I just
25 wonder sometimes, you know -- you can raise a red flag

1 when it's not needed, and I don't know. I just -- I'm
2 just saying if we back down to -- to some normal
3 numbers for a number of years, at some point or
4 another -- we can't do this the rest of our lives,
5 have Angels' Night every year for the rest of our
6 lives. That doesn't make sense.

7 I think that we need to just take a hard
8 look at it. I agree. I wouldn't know the exact time
9 to pull the plug on it. I wouldn't make an
10 announcement about it, you know? I would just begin
11 to draw back some of the, you know -- I mean, if it
12 was me, that's what I'd do, but. . .

13 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Commissioner, if
14 I -- oh, please. Yeah.

15 DEPUTY CHIEF BETTISON: Deputy Chief Todd
16 Bettison, for the record. I just wanted to talk
17 about, you know, this topic in a different approach.
18 The administration's approach this year has been more
19 so celebrating the "angels" piece of it in the overall
20 celebration. For example, last year one of the things
21 that we did differently on Halloween, October the
22 31st -- we had "Trick or Trunk" at all the precinct
23 stations, and this year we've even relaxed the curfew
24 on Halloween.

25 So if I heard correctly, on actual

1 Halloween day the curfew will be normal hours, and
2 we're inviting all the families to bring their
3 children to the precinct stations and fire stations
4 and its recreation stations around the city who will
5 have that celebration. We're raising candy. We're
6 going to have a big, big festivity, and that's what
7 we're really celebrating.

8 And then as far as Angels' Night -- it has
9 morphed from Devil's Night to right now. It's just a
10 big family gathering where community members -- it's
11 the largest gathering of citizens coming out --
12 volunteer effort -- in the country. So that's really
13 what we're focused on, and by those yellow/amber
14 lights, and everybody looking -- actually, the number
15 of fires during this three-day period is lower than on
16 a normal night. And then, also, it's reflected in
17 crime as well.

18 So I would just say that our approach -- I
19 definitely hear what Bishop Vann is saying. You know,
20 we're looking at it. Nobody knows exactly when to say
21 pull the plug, but we are morphing into a celebration,
22 and that's -- that's what I'd like to add to it.

23 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Thank you. And I
24 did want to just -- if I could just make a comment.
25 The officers of the board did meet -- have our

1 bimonthly meeting with the mayor recently, about a
2 week and a half ago, and this topic did come up, and
3 really the discussion is how we will transition from
4 the Angels' Night activity to a community event,
5 because thousands of people every year look forward to
6 this event.

7 I know this. In Southwest Detroit it's a
8 huge activity, and they look forward to the
9 celebrating and, really, celebrating the success of
10 having no more, you know, fires and the numbers that
11 we used to. And so it is still a very important
12 event. It's a great PR event for our police
13 department. It's wonderful networking with the
14 officers, so, you know, I think the mayor wants to
15 continue some kind of an event like that, but
16 recognizing that it's not what it used to be, Bishop
17 Vann, as you pointed out. But we're working on a
18 transition.

19 DEPUTY CHIEF BETTISON: Absolutely. And
20 through the chair, I would just like to add: One of
21 the things that we did as far as morphing and changing
22 regarding the curfew last year -- it was actually
23 starting to commence at 6:00 p.m. This year we scaled
24 back an hour to 7:00 p.m. And just for the
25 community -- letting everyone know that we really

1 utilize tremendous discretion if the kids have a note
2 or have somewhere to be. It is not the police
3 department's position to detain you.

4 It's a tool in the toolbox, but if I'm
5 not -- each year since 2013, the number of youth that
6 we've detained with the curfew has went down, down,
7 down. I believe last year we only detained, over the
8 three-day period, six youth, so I just wanted to add
9 that as well.

10 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you very
11 much, DC. Any other comments? I'm sorry.
12 Commissioner Crawford?

13 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, ma'am.
14 Through the chair, I just want to state that from a
15 historic perspective it was the Honorable Coleman --
16 the Honorable Mayor Coleman Alexander Young that wrote
17 the book and wrote the plan, and as -- for
18 commission -- for Angels' Night, in terms of the
19 organization and mobilization of tens of thousands of
20 citizens and also with the work of the Detroit police
21 officers and everyone in this great city participating
22 over the years.

23 And as Commissioner Mallett stated, it was
24 that year that -- as a matter of fact, it was his
25 first year in office, and Mayor Archer -- the first

1 year in office -- I'll never forget that -- where they
2 didn't pull the book off the -- the shelf and open it
3 up and follow that plan, and thus there was a rise in
4 fires and in a number of other activities occurring
5 those three nights.

6 And, of course, years thereafter, you know,
7 they blew the dust off the book and continued to
8 follow that plan of mobilizing the people in this
9 city. And that's why the -- thus, the arrests and the
10 tensions are down of the youth, and the arsons are
11 down, and, of course, there's more community-oriented
12 programs to engage the youth and the citizens in the
13 city. Thank you.

14 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Thank you,
15 Commissioner. Any other comments? Questions?
16 Hearing none. Then we have -- thank you, Attorney
17 Wyrick.

18 MR. WYRICK: Thank you.

19 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: We have a second
20 presentation on body-worn cameras final directive by
21 Ms. Melanie White.

22 MS. WHITE: Good afternoon, your Honorable
23 Board. I am Melanie White, executive manager of
24 policy. Last week we provided you with the
25 preliminary status of the BWC policy, which was

1 pending at that time, regarding additional corrections
2 and edits that needed to be made on the part of the
3 department.

4 Since that time on October 16, 2017, the
5 BOPC has received an updated draft copy of the BWC
6 policy, which includes all of the board's proposed
7 recommendations, including those substantive changes
8 as well as those minor edits, and so at this time it
9 is before you for a vote. You received a copy of a
10 summary of the BWC corrections this past Tuesday --
11 you may have received that electronically -- and you
12 should probably also have it in your packet at this
13 time.

14 COMMISSIONER BELL: Madam Chair --

15 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Any questions?
16 Comments? Commissioner?

17 COMMISSIONER BELL: As chair of the policy
18 committee, we went through this quite thoroughly in
19 terms of Ms. White working with staff, and so they
20 have made the necessary departments to entertain all
21 our concerns, and we have a former draft that we are
22 pleased with, as far as the policy committee, and that
23 she indicated the full board has been aware of all
24 other minor corrections, et cetera.

25 So I move that this board adopt a policy

1 that's been established by DPD with recommendation of
2 the Board of Police Commission.

3 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Seconded.

4 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: It's been moved
5 and seconded. All those in favor indicate by saying
6 aye.

7 THE BOARD: Aye.

8 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Opposed?

9 Thank you. The motion carries. Thank you,
10 Commissioner Bell, and thank you, Ms. White. Do we
11 have any standing committees or ad hoc committee
12 reports? Hearing none. Then our next item is the
13 report from the board secretary, Mr. Hicks. Thank
14 you.

15 MR. HICKS: Thank you, Madam Chair, and I
16 am mindful that a good part of our agenda involves a
17 closed session. I did want to point out that there
18 were five items that were brought to the attention of
19 the board, and you see them listed on the -- on the
20 agenda. Having said that, in the interest of time,
21 that concludes my report.

22 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Thank you,
23 Secretary Hicks.

24 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Great report.

25 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Thank you,

1 Secretary Hicks. Is there any old business to come
2 before the board? Old business?

3 COMMISSIONER BELL: Madam Chair --

4 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Yes,
5 Commissioner.

6 COMMISSIONER BELL: I would request that DC
7 Bettison come back to the mic to report on the
8 Neighborhood Police Officers Conference this past
9 Saturday. In my opinion, myself, Commissioner Brooks,
10 and Commissioner Burton -- we spent the day there, and
11 it was outstanding, leading off with the active
12 shooters that we all appreciated, because we can all
13 utilize that type of information.

14 So the conference was well attended, but
15 you are the organizer, and I think Chief Craig did an
16 outstanding job in terms of his remarks, in terms of
17 where we are and where we're going with this, so --

18 But as you know, the architect who did all
19 the legwork is the man standing in front of us, so I'm
20 going to get -- now I wanted to say, also, on Friday
21 that 28 officers graduated from the police academy
22 after six months of training. It was outstanding to
23 see these young people. There was international
24 vetting of these officers, coming across the state,
25 received their badge -- I would say the badge.

1 And acting Investigator Akbar here -- we
2 had the opportunity to spend Monday with them, a
3 couple hours, and we were very impressed with the
4 caliber of people that we -- going through the
5 academy. We don't take that very lightly. And that
6 type of interaction, the Q and A, and just to get some
7 background on these officers before they walk off the
8 stage -- I just couldn't say enough. With Gail
9 Oxendine, Commissioner Brooks, and others who worked
10 towards that recruiting effort to get a finished
11 product to actually walk across this stage, I just
12 want to compliment DPD in terms of the graduation, so
13 --

14 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you for
15 those comments. And, please, DC Bettison?

16 DEPUTY CHIEF BETTISON: DC Bettison, for
17 the record. I just want to thank the board, and then
18 thank my team, and then thank the members of audience
19 as well, because without you all it wouldn't have been
20 a success because -- you know, to spend your Saturday,
21 you know -- it started at eight o'clock in the
22 morning, and you all stayed the whole day, and then we
23 had at least about 225 folks there, and the feedback
24 was phenomenal.

25 We had a good time. We were thoroughly

1 entertained. The active shooter, you know, what to
2 do -- from a community, just a citizen's standpoint --
3 of when you're under attack -- what to do. That
4 course was a hit of Detective Brian Fountain. I want
5 to give him kudos. He's one of the best trainers in
6 the state of Michigan. He delivered that course, and
7 he also, from a community standpoint, goes out to
8 various large churches.

9 I believe, Bishop Vann, he's been to Second
10 Ebenezer, your church, and, you know -- and we provide
11 that for the community, because we know that we all
12 have to be in a heightened state of alert, not only
13 the police department, but our citizens as well. So
14 thanks, everyone.

15 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you, sir.
16 Any other comments?

17 COMMISSIONER VANN: I would just add, Madam
18 Chair, that, yes, we've been actively engaged and
19 involved with the department with regard to evacuation
20 measures, terrorism measures, et cetera, et cetera,
21 with my security team, and it's been a very rewarding
22 experience, and I want to thank Deputy Chief Bettison
23 for his leadership in that area, and he's been able to
24 pull a number of us together and make sure that this
25 would take place. And it is needed because these are

1 places where people gather in large numbers and
2 certainly should be a concern of the department.

3 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Thank you for
4 that report. Very important for us to hear that.
5 Thank you.

6 Any other old business? Hearing none.
7 Then we have changed the agenda so that we can have
8 oral communications at this time in public comments.
9 We did pass around some cards earlier. If anybody
10 needs a card, would like to speak, please raise your
11 hand. If not, Mr. Brown?

12 MR. BROWN: Madam Chair, I currently have
13 four cards: Ms. Fredia Butler followed by Mr. William
14 Davis.

15 MS. BUTLER: Good afternoon, Board.

16 THE BOARD: Good afternoon.

17 MS. BUTLER: My name is Fredia Butler, and
18 I am a community activist. I wanted to address this
19 to Chief Craig. I did not attend the NPO summit last
20 Thursday. I did attend last year and was
21 disappointed; however, I did attend the summit several
22 years ago at the University of Detroit. It was well
23 planned, and we had great consultants. We had the
24 opportunity to choose which workshops to attend.

25 I don't believe we should spend our tax

1 dollars at expensive hotels and pay high parking fees
2 to be given information. I have learned more about
3 law enforcement from attending these meetings. You
4 have great professionals who could serve as
5 consultants at these summits. If these summits are to
6 be held yearly, Chief Craig, I hope you will consider
7 having these summits in our communities rather than
8 down town.

9 They could be held at some of our large
10 churches or at Wayne County Community Colleges. They
11 have plenty of rooms and parking spaces, and would be
12 less costly. You can alternate the summits by having
13 them on the east and west side of Detroit. Please
14 consider this proposal. Thank you.

15 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Thank you.
16 Chief?

17 CHIEF WHITE: Thank you for bringing that
18 matter to our attention, ma'am. I will make sure I
19 communicate your concerns to the chief. DC?

20 DEPUTY CHIEF BETTISON: Just one point of
21 correction and clarification -- no tax-payer dollars
22 were spent on the summit. I wrote a grant, and that
23 was grant funding, and we put that in the grant. And
24 just for the record, we have had those summits on the
25 East Side, the West Side, and also in the community.

1 We -- the summit that she actually spoke
2 about we had on the West Side at the University of
3 Detroit and then we also had a submit the previous
4 year at -- at Greater Grace Church. So we move them
5 around, but no tax-payer dollars has been spent on any
6 of the summits. Thank you.

7 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Thank you, deputy
8 chief.

9 MR. BROWN: Mr. Davis followed by Mr.
10 Eric Blount.

11 MR. DAVIS: Hello. My name is
12 William M. Davis. I'm the president of the Detroit
13 Active and Retired Employee Association, president of
14 the Detroit Chapter 9, and also a member of the
15 Justice Department task force dealing with violence
16 that -- we was mainly looking at Dearborn, but we've
17 still been continuing up under the Trump
18 administration. And I can tell you, personally, I was
19 very troubled about what I seen on that tape about
20 what happened at Meijer. And I'm pleased to hear that
21 no charges are going to be charged against that young
22 man. And all three capacities -- we will continue to
23 look at that.

24 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Thank you. Next.

25 MR. BROWN: Mr. Blount followed by

1 Ms. Bernice Smith.

2 MR. BLOUNT: Good afternoon, board. My
3 name is Eric Blount, lifelong resident of the city.
4 I'm glad to hear that my concerns over the past year
5 about body-worn cameras is now going to be fulfilled.
6 I think it's important that we get that presentation
7 available to us so that we know ahead of time before
8 anything happens -- what are the rules and regulations
9 as far as who can see those, the tape, from the
10 body-worn cameras.

11 Bill Proctor was here not that long ago,
12 and he has reached out to me for support and -- just
13 so we all know what -- what the rules are. Thank you.

14 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you.
15 Chief, would you like to respond?

16 CHIEF WHITE: I'd be very happy to provide
17 the community with a presentation on body-worn
18 cameras. I would like to acknowledge the team, if I
19 may, and we'll tell you that we are committed to
20 working transparently in providing information. As
21 you know, the board has finally had an opportunity to
22 go through the policy. We had to make some changes.
23 There was a delay on our end -- the police department,
24 not board. I don't want to present that as such. But
25 the people that do the work -- I get to sit here and

1 tell you about the work, but I wanted to show you the
2 people that do the work.

3 Can the member -- members of the body-worn
4 camera committee please stand, please? Trisha Stein,
5 director of administrative operations; Lieutenant
6 Franklin Hayes -- that's the secondary lieutenant, as
7 well. He started the body-worn initiative. The
8 police officers started the body-worn initiative. He
9 took it and ran with it; got the grant secured along
10 with Director Stein.

11 John Watkins, one of the best policy
12 writers, I think, in the country, to be honest with
13 you, put together a very good policy, has a great
14 working relationship with your team. We implemented a
15 lot of the rules changes. And William Sims, a
16 lieutenant who is in charge of the civil rights
17 division -- civil rights division is not going away
18 because the consent judgment is gone. It does
19 outstanding audits, looks at uses of force -- proper
20 uses of force, improper uses of force -- training, and
21 he also heads our body-worn camera division. So thank
22 you.

23 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you, all.
24 Thank you, chief.

25 MR. BROWN: Ms. Smith -- Madam Chair,

1 Ms. Smith will be your last speaker.

2 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Thank you, sir.

3 MS. SMITH: Bernice Smith, political
4 activist also. Chief White and the commission, good
5 afternoon.

6 THE BOARD: Good afternoon.

7 MS. SMITH: I'm not going to go into the --
8 repass -- rehash what the young lady said in regards
9 to the conference. I do -- did think that probably it
10 was an expense that was not necessary, but after
11 hearing the officer tell us that it was a grant, I'll
12 excuse him as far as that's concerned, 'cause we don't
13 need to give the money to the Renaissance. They got
14 enough money.

15 In the meantime, I wish to tell -- I wanted
16 to say you have my condolences in regards to your dad.

17 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: Oh, thank you very
18 much.

19 MS. SMITH: It was a beautiful service, and
20 you did a wonderful job in speaking. Also, I thought
21 with the conference being held that there were
22 expenses as far as the -- the parking is concerned,
23 'cause one person had to pay \$15. I was sitting there
24 waiting for the car that was going to take me out and
25 the \$15 -- and I think that's kind of expensive for a

1 neighborhood conference, and I hope next time we have
2 a neighborhood again -- in the neighborhood, rather --
3 and we won't have to spend that extensive amount of
4 money.

5 Also, you are very, very efficient in
6 regards to getting your information with the Meijer.
7 I spoke with people -- 'cause that's the store I go to
8 every weekend, and I spoke with some of the employees
9 there that was close to the incident, and they got a
10 different story altogether, which I will repeat to
11 you.

12 In the meantime, I suggest that you check
13 the two security -- store security people that were
14 standing on the side of the officer, 'cause that's
15 their policy. They're supposed to be there. I said
16 that last week, and, again, I repeat, they are
17 supposed to stand on the side. So they have plenty of
18 information in regards to what happened.

19 Also, you have a police in the lot that's
20 surveying the lot in a car, so he could have been in
21 the -- in the incident also. He could have been there
22 to help him out, but do a thorough check in regards to
23 that incident, because I think you have more on your
24 side than what the Meijer have on theirs. And I thank
25 you for your time.

1 CHIEF WHITE: Thank you.

2 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you,

3 Ms. Smith. That is our final community person with

4 questions or announcements, and so at this time -- we

5 do have our next meeting occurring Thursday, October

6 26th, at 3:00 p.m. at Detroit Public Safety

7 Headquarters, and then next community meeting is

8 Thursday, November 9th, at 6:30. It will be held in

9 the 6th Precinct, and the location is forthcoming.

10 Under new business, we will have closed

11 session, so we will be leaving for about -- well, not

12 sure how long, but we will reconvene after our closed

13 session. You're welcome to stay or to come back. But

14 we will be going into closed session. Do I need a

15 motion?

16 MR. HICKS: No. No, you do not need a

17 motion on these.

18 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you.

19 COMMISSIONER BELL: We need a motion.

20 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Okay.

21 COMMISSIONER BELL: I so move that we enter

22 into a closed session.

23 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Is there a

24 second?

25 UNKNOWN SPEAKER: Second.

1 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: All those in
2 favor indicate by saying aye.

3 THE BOARD: Aye.

4 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Opposed?
5 Okay. We're going into closed session.
6 Thank you. Thank you all for being here.

7 (The board went into closed session at 3:55
8 p.m.)

9 (The board went back on the record at 5:28
10 p.m.)

11 MR. HICKS: Madam Chair, you continue to
12 have your quorum and a motion to return to regular
13 order.

14 COMMISSIONER BELL: So move, Madam Chair.

15 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Thank you. It's
16 been moved and supported. All those in favor indicate
17 by saying aye.

18 THE BOARD: Aye.

19 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Opposed?

20 Motion carries. We have three items that
21 we went into executive session on, and we need to
22 take -- well, make a motion to either accept or reject
23 the recommendations that were presented. First one is
24 Police Officer Stephen Heid, and at this point I'm
25 just going to mention the names. We already know the

1 case; correct.

2 MR. HICKS: Yes. Madam Chair, if you -- if
3 you don't mind, I could read the information --

4 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: That would be
5 fine.

6 MR. HICKS: -- so that you have it on the
7 record.

8 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Thank you.

9 MR. HICKS: The first item, should you
10 decide to make it into a motion, would be a
11 recommendation from the chief of police to suspend
12 without pay Police Officer Stephen Heid, Badge No.
13 359.

14 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Is there a motion
15 to accept?

16 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: So move.

17 COMMISSIONER VANN: Supported.

18 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: It's been moved
19 and seconded. Is there -- are there any questions?
20 Hearing none. All those in favor indicate by saying
21 aye.

22 THE BOARD: Aye.

23 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Opposed?

24 It's unanimous.

25 MR. HICKS: Madam Chair, your -- your vote

1 reflects a unanimous approval of the chair's
2 recommendation -- I mean, of the chief's
3 recommendation.

4 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Thank you. And
5 then the second --

6 MR. HICKS: The second item --

7 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: -- item.

8 MR. HICKS: -- is the police officer Ronald
9 Cadez, Badge No. 4825, and this is also a
10 recommendation to suspend without pay.

11 COMMISSIONER MALLETT: So move.

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: Supported.

13 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: It's been moved
14 and seconded. Are there any questions? Hearing none.
15 All those in favor indicate by saying aye.

16 THE BOARD: Aye.

17 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Opposed?

18 MR. HICKS: Madam Chair, likewise, that's
19 by unanimous vote. As you have a quorum present, that
20 matter is approved being that you concurred with the
21 recommendation of the chief.

22 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Thank you. And
23 now we have a matter involving a disqualified
24 candidate?

25 MR. HICKS: Yes. Under disqualified

1 candidate you have Brandon Andrews, who is petitioning
2 the board for reconsideration so that he would be
3 allowed to be put back -- to reapply to the academy.
4 This is not a -- an action to place him in the
5 academy. He would have to continue -- he would have
6 to meet the requirements of the academy.

7 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: In other words,
8 to go through the application process again, to repeat
9 that process.

10 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Through the chair.

11 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Yes.

12 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I do apologize. I
13 just want to know, like, for instance, the portion
14 that, I guess -- that he failed -- is it possible that
15 the board can allow him to go back and -- back to that
16 one portion, or decided to do the whole process up?

17 MR. HICKS: Madam Chair, if you don't
18 mind --

19 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Please.

20 MR. HICKS: We have been -- we have been
21 told that this is, first of all, an action that took
22 place eight years ago. The circumstances around the
23 individual and the requirements of the department --
24 they're not always flat. I mean, things change, and
25 that -- the better wisdom is to start the process from

1 the beginning, and if the individual then adheres to
2 all the requirements that are associated with the
3 normal process, then that person is given an
4 opportunity, just like any other citizen, to apply and
5 compete in the situation.

6 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Madam --

7 COMMISSIONER BELL: Madam Chair, I move
8 that this board allow Mr. Brandon Andrews to reapply
9 without recruiting and start the process all over
10 again.

11 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Is there a
12 second?

13 UNKNOWN SPEAKER: Second.

14 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: It's been moved
15 and seconded. Any questions? Comments? All those
16 in -- all those in -- I'm sorry. Go ahead,
17 Commissioner Burton.

18 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I do have a question,
19 and thank you, Madam Chair. And the question I have
20 is for when someone is NCO certified, how long do that
21 certification last or that -- anybody can answer that
22 for me. Any fellow board members?

23 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: But that question
24 is not related to the motion that's on the floor.
25 Maybe we can get that answer for you after the

1 meeting.

2 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Sure. Thank you.

3 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Thank you. Any
4 other questions regarding this motion? Hearing none.
5 All those in favor indicate by saying aye.

6 THE BOARD: Aye.

7 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Opposed?

8 It's unanimous.

9 MR. HICKS: Likewise unanimous. I'll move
10 adjournment.

11 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: There is a motion
12 to adjourn the meeting. All those in favor indicate
13 by saying aye.

14 THE BOARD: Aye.

15 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Thank you,
16 everyone. Good afternoon.

17 (The meeting was adjourned at 5:34 p.m.)

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

CERTIFICATE OF NOTARY

STATE OF MICHIGAN)
) SS
COUNTY OF OAKLAND)

I, Susanne Ellen Gorman, a Notary Public in and for the above county and state, do hereby certify that the above meeting was taken before me at the time and place hereinbefore set forth; that the witness was by me first duly sworn to testify to the truth, and nothing but the truth; that the foregoing questions asked and answers made by the witness were duly recorded by me stenographically and reduced to computer transcription; that this is a true, full, and correct transcript of my stenographic notes so taken; and that I am not related to, nor of counsel to either party, nor interested in the event of this case.

 _____



Susanne Ellen Gorman, CSR-9271 RPR
Notary Public,
Oakland County, Michigan.

My commission expires: September 14, 2023

A
able 37:23
absence 27:15
Absolutely 30:19
academy 35:21
 36:5 49:3,5,6
accept 46:22
 47:15
accepting 27:20
accident 8:15
 25:5
account 18:3
 19:13
acknowledge
 41:18
act 9:7 16:25
 21:17 26:13
acting 2:9 6:2
 6:13 23:15
 36:1
action 21:6,18
 21:19,19 49:4
 49:21
actions 20:17
active 11:5 14:6
 14:12 15:12
 35:11 37:1
 40:13
actively 37:18
activist 38:18
 43:4
activities 32:4
activity 30:4,8
acts 8:25 16:20
actual 28:25
ad 34:11
add 8:12 29:22
 30:20 31:8
 37:17
addition 14:17
additional 33:1
address 5:12
 38:18
adheres 50:1
adjourn 51:12
adjourned 51:17
adjournment
 51:10
adjusted 9:11
administration
 40:18
administration's

28:18
administrative
 27:12 42:5
adopt 33:25
advance 4:19
advantage 27:14
affairs 15:2
afternoon 3:5
 6:10,23 23:22
 23:24 32:22
 38:15,16 41:2
 43:5,6 51:16
age 25:13
agencies 22:8
agency 11:12
 22:15
agenda 4:8 5:13
 9:12 34:16,20
 38:7
agenda's 4:18
aggravated 9:23
aggressive 21:19
 22:10
ago 20:3 25:9
 27:22 30:2
 38:22 41:11
 49:22
agree 28:8
ahead 12:16 41:7
 50:16
Akbar 6:1,2,7,9
 6:10,12,20
 36:1
alert 5:11 37:12
Alexander 7:6
 31:16
allow 9:12 49:15
 50:8
allowed 9:8 49:3
alternate 39:12
altogether 44:10
America 22:15
amount 22:20
 44:3
Andrews 49:1
 50:8
angels 28:19
Angels' 24:18
 26:10 28:5
 29:8 30:4
 31:18
angles 14:24

announcement
 28:10
announcements
 45:4
answer 50:21,25
answers 52:12
anticipating
 10:17
anybody 38:9
 50:21
anytime 21:21
anyway 25:13
apologize 49:12
applaud 20:22
applauding 10:2
application 49:8
apply 50:4
appreciate 17:7
appreciated
 35:12
approach 28:17
 28:18 29:18
appropriate
 16:22
approval 48:1
approve 4:9,20
approved 4:18
 5:3 48:20
aptly 26:8
Archer 26:24
 31:25
architect 35:18
area 37:23
arrests 32:9
arsons 24:9,13
 24:14,22,25
 32:10
asked 22:17
 52:12
assault 9:22,23
assistance 9:2
Assistant 6:21
 7:1
associated 50:2
Association
 40:13
at-large 2:6,10
 2:11 3:24 4:3
attack 37:3
attempting 11:17
attend 38:19,20
 38:21,24

attended 35:14
attending 5:10
 39:3
attention 23:7
 34:18 39:18
attorney 5:25
 23:21 32:16
attorneys 27:6
audience 8:3
 9:11 36:18
audio 14:24
audio-visual
 5:18
audits 42:19
auto-related
 8:15
available 5:15
 41:7
average 21:23
 24:25,25
aware 10:22
 33:23
awareness 23:6
aye 4:15,16,25
 5:1,2 34:6,7
 46:2,3,17,18
 47:21,22 48:15
 48:16 51:5,6
 51:13,14

B
back 5:10 11:24
 11:25 17:23
 20:24 21:9
 24:13,23 28:2
 28:11 30:24
 35:7 45:13
 46:9 49:3,15
 49:15
background 36:7
badge 35:25,25
 47:12 48:9
based 14:8,18,20
 22:19
basis 25:5
baton 16:6,18
 21:21
beautiful 43:19
beginning 8:9
 50:1
behalf 8:8
belabor 18:21

believe 10:24
 12:8 19:20
 31:7 37:9
 38:25
Bell 2:5 3:21,22
 12:17 13:25
 15:14,17 16:12
 17:8,20 18:12
 18:22 33:14,17
 34:10 35:3,6
 45:19,21 46:14
 48:12 50:7
benefit 12:2
Bernice 41:1
 43:3
best 22:8 37:5
 42:11
better 49:25
Bettison 28:15
 28:16 30:19
 35:7 36:15,16
 36:16 37:22
 39:20
big 29:6,6,10
Bill 41:11
bimonthly 30:1
Bishop 2:12 3:10
 3:14,16 18:23
 26:23 27:9
 29:19 30:16
 37:9
bit 18:7
blew 32:7
Bliss 7:18,18
blossomed 27:8
Blount 40:10,25
 41:2,3
board 1:7 2:14
 3:6 4:16 5:1
 5:12,25 6:10
 6:23 8:8 9:6
 9:14 10:22,24
 11:19 12:10
 14:7 20:16,25
 21:6 23:21,23
 23:24 29:25
 32:23 33:23,25
 34:2,7,13,19
 35:2 36:17
 38:15,16 41:2
 41:21,24 43:6
 46:3,7,9,18

47:22 48:16
 49:2,15 50:8
 50:22 51:6,14
board's 12:2
 33:6
body-worn 12:12
 32:20 41:5,10
 41:17 42:3,7,8
 42:21
book 31:17 32:2
 32:7
BOPC 5:5 23:19
 33:5
Brandon 49:1
 50:8
Brian 37:4
brief 8:4,7
bring 15:5 29:2
bringing 39:17
brings 23:6
Brooks 2:6 3:23
 3:24 35:9 36:9
brought 34:18
Brown 2:15 5:24
 10:24 38:11,12
 40:9,25 42:25
Bryant 7:20,20
 10:12,15,15,20
Bureau 7:17,19
Burton 2:7 20:2
 20:4,7,10
 35:10 49:10,12
 50:6,17,18
 51:2
business 9:10
 35:1,2 38:6
 45:10
Butler 38:13,15
 38:17,17
BWC 32:25 33:5
 33:10

C

Cadez 48:9
caliber 36:4
California 8:24
Callaway 6:17
called 24:18
calls 18:24
 20:13
camera 42:4,21
cameras 12:13

32:20 41:5,10
 41:18
Campbell 7:16,17
candidate 48:24
 49:1
candy 29:5
capacities 40:22
Captain 7:22,22
car 43:24 44:20
card 38:10
cards 5:11,15
 38:9,13
careful 18:7
Caribbean 8:24
carjacking 9:23
Carolyn 6:16
carries 34:9
 46:20
Carter 3:9 4:5
case 47:1
category 22:10
 22:11
caught 25:22
cause 13:10
 43:12,23 44:7
 44:14 52:17
caution 13:13
 15:19 17:19
celebrating
 28:19 29:7
 30:9,9
celebration
 28:20 29:5,21
CEO 17:13 19:20
certain 13:8
 16:21 17:16
certainly 10:2
 11:21 14:2,13
 16:15 17:6
 19:12 21:17,21
 38:2
CERTIFICATE 52:1
certification
 50:21
certified 50:20
certify 52:7
cetera 17:25
 33:24 37:20,20
chair 3:8,9 4:11
 5:6 8:20 14:1
 15:14 17:10
 18:17 19:8

20:7 21:16
 23:25 26:4,20
 30:20 31:14
 33:14,17 34:15
 35:3 37:18
 38:12 42:25
 46:11,14 47:2
 47:25 48:18
 49:10,17 50:7
 50:19
chair's 48:1
Chairperson 2:9
change 49:24
changed 16:24
 17:1 19:4 38:7
changes 17:4
 19:11 25:15
 33:7 41:22
 42:15
changing 30:21
Chapter 40:14
charge 42:16
charged 40:21
charges 11:3
 40:21
chase 8:16 11:11
check 44:12,22
chief 2:18,19
 6:2,11,21,23
 6:24 7:1,5,24
 8:1,12 9:16,18
 10:19,21,25
 12:6,14,21,22
 13:2,24 14:1,2
 14:4,22 15:9
 16:11,13 17:6
 17:12 19:7
 21:15,16 23:12
 23:18 28:15,15
 30:19 35:15
 36:16 37:22
 38:19 39:6,16
 39:17,19,20
 40:8 41:15,16
 42:24 43:4
 45:1 47:11
 48:21
chief's 8:18
 48:2
Chiefs 6:25
children 29:3
choose 38:24

church 37:10 40:4	commence 30:23	46:14,15,19	41:4
churches 37:8 39:10	comment 15:18 18:11 29:24	47:4,8,14,16	conclude 6:6
circles 18:1	comments 12:15 20:6 26:3	47:17,18,23	concludes 34:21
circumstance 13:17 14:8,10	31:11 32:15	48:4,7,11,12	conclusion 19:14 19:15
circumstances 16:19 22:1,24 49:22	33:16 36:15	48:13,17,22	concur 18:22
Cities 6:25	37:16 38:8	49:7,10,11,12	concurred 48:20
citizen 21:24 50:4	50:15	49:19 50:6,7	condolences 43:16
citizen's 37:2	commission 31:18 34:2 43:4 52:25	50:11,14,17,18	conducted 11:6
citizens 5:10 23:1 24:15,20 27:7,15 29:11 31:20 32:12 37:13	Commissioner 2:5 2:6,7,8,10,11 2:12 3:5,12,14 3:16,17,17,19 3:19,21,21,23 3:23,25,25 4:2 4:2,4,5,6,10 4:12,13,17,22 4:23,24 5:2 6:5,8,19,21 8:1 10:13 12:14,15,17 13:25 15:14,16 15:17 16:12 17:8,9,10,20 18:11,15,16,17 18:18,19,20,22 18:23,24 19:25 20:1,2,3,4,5,7 20:8,9,10 21:14,15 23:18 24:24 25:3,7 26:2,4,5,6,7,8 26:20,22,23 27:1,2,21,23 27:24 28:13,13 29:23 31:10,12 31:13,23 32:14 32:15,19 33:14 33:15,16,17 34:3,4,8,10,22 34:24,25 35:3 35:4,5,6,9,10 36:9,14 37:15 37:17 38:3 39:15 40:7,24 41:14 42:23 43:2,17 45:2 45:18,19,20,21 45:23 46:1,4	50:23 51:2,3,7 51:11,15	conference 7:1 12:19 13:15 14:4 35:8,14 43:9,21 44:1
city 10:6 24:2,6 24:11,14 25:10 29:4 31:21 32:9,13 41:3	commitment 41:19	51:11,15	conferences 18:8
civil 7:15 25:24 42:16,17	committee 9:10 33:18,22 34:11 42:4	commissioner's 20:25	congratulate 20:22 21:8
clarification 39:21	committees 34:11	commissioners 1:7 2:3 3:7 4:5,8	connection 8:16
clear 25:4	communicate 17:3 39:19	committed 41:19	Conrad 2:10 3:25
close 9:8 44:9	communication 14:17	committee 9:10	conscientious 19:19
closed 9:7,13,13 9:15 34:17 45:10,12,14,22 46:5,7	communications 9:11 38:8	33:18,22 34:11 42:4	consent 16:16 42:18
closure 10:8,10 10:19	communities 39:7	42:4	consider 39:6,14
closures 10:18	community 1:9 6:11 14:7,14 14:18 15:4 17:2,2,4,21,22 18:13 20:14 21:8,9 23:4 29:10 30:4,25 37:2,7,11 38:18 39:10,25 41:17 45:3,7	communications 9:11 38:8	considered 25:23 25:24,25
code 25:11	community-ori... 32:11	communities 39:7	consistent 25:6
Coleman 6:16 31:15,16	company 12:7,9	community 1:9 6:11 14:7,14 14:18 15:4 17:2,2,4,21,22 18:13 20:14 21:8,9 23:4 29:10 30:4,25 37:2,7,11 38:18 39:10,25 41:17 45:3,7	constituents 20:13,21
Colleges 39:10	compelled 17:1,3	17:2,2,4,21,22 18:13 20:14 21:8,9 23:4 29:10 30:4,25 37:2,7,11 38:18 39:10,25 41:17 45:3,7	construction 12:3,7,9
come 5:13 10:14 11:25 22:5 30:2 35:1,7 45:13	compete 50:5	21:8,9 23:4 29:10 30:4,25 37:2,7,11 38:18 39:10,25 41:17 45:3,7	consultants 38:23 39:5
comfortably 11:13,16	compliment 36:12	29:10 30:4,25 37:2,7,11 38:18 39:10,25 41:17 45:3,7	contact 16:3
coming 12:12 29:11 35:24	computer 52:14	37:2,7,11 38:18 39:10,25 41:17 45:3,7	contacts 21:24 23:2
Commander 7:18 7:18,20,20 10:9,12,15,15 10:20	concern 12:17 38:2	38:18 39:10,25 41:17 45:3,7	continue 10:3,4 11:22 14:6 30:15 40:22 46:11 49:5

correct 47:1
 52:15
correction 39:21
corrections
 23:16 33:1,10
 33:24
correctly 28:25
costly 39:12
Council 22:13
counsel 52:16
country 16:17
 21:11 22:9
 29:12 42:12
county 39:10
 52:4,7,22
couple 10:18,18
 36:3
course 12:10
 25:9 32:6,11
 37:4,6
court 5:19 17:18
Craig 6:25 35:15
 38:19 39:6
Crawford 2:8
 3:19,20 4:10
 4:22 18:17,20
 19:25 31:12,13
 34:3
credibility 15:4
crime 9:19,19,19
 9:25 10:2,2,5
 10:7 29:17
crimes 7:21,23
 26:14
criticism 18:14
CSR-9271 52:20
curfew 23:21
 24:1 25:12,14
 25:16,19,22
 28:23 29:1
 30:22 31:6
curious 26:8
currently 11:9
 21:3 38:12

D

dad 43:16
damage 27:16
Daniel 6:17
date 10:17
Davis 38:14 40:9
 40:11,12

day 5:19 26:12
 29:1 35:10
 36:22
daylight 25:18
days 10:18 26:15
DC 31:11 35:6
 36:15,16 39:19
deal 22:20
dealing 11:16
 22:17 40:15
Dearborn 40:16
decide 47:10
decided 49:16
decision 11:3
 15:9 27:12
decision-making
 15:10
dedicated 24:19
defend 17:12,14
definitely 21:4
 29:19
delay 41:23
delivered 37:6
Dennis 26:24
department 8:17
 10:4 11:2,2
 16:5 20:16
 21:1,6,18,23
 30:13 33:3
 37:13,19 38:2
 40:15 41:23
 49:23
department's
 31:3
departments
 33:20
deployment 7:13
deputy 28:15,15
 30:19 36:16
 37:22 39:20
 40:7
Derrick 2:11 4:2
detail 13:9
detain 20:20
 31:3
detained 31:6,7
detective 11:14
 11:15 37:4
detectives 11:7
Detroit 1:7,15
 1:19 3:1,18
 10:4,6 11:1

24:2,11,14,15
 24:16 30:7
 31:20 38:22
 39:13 40:3,12
 40:14 45:6
devastated 8:25
Devil's 24:7
 29:9
Dewaelsche 2:9
 3:5,8,14 4:4
 4:13,17,24 5:2
 6:5,8,19,21
 8:1 10:13
 12:14 15:16
 17:9 18:15,18
 20:1,5,8 21:14
 23:18 26:2,5
 26:22 28:13
 29:23 31:10
 32:14,19 33:15
 34:4,8,22,25
 35:4 36:14
 37:15 38:3
 39:15 40:7,24
 41:14 42:23
 43:2 45:2,18
 45:20,23 46:1
 46:4,15,19
 47:4,8,14,18
 47:23 48:4,7
 48:13,17,22
 49:7,11,19
 50:11,14,23
 51:3,7,11,15
Diaz 8:5
different 10:11
 28:17 44:10
differently
 28:21
diligence 20:17
diligently 10:5
direct 21:19
direction 9:20
 10:7
directive 32:20
director 5:22
 42:5,10
disappeared 8:22
disappointed
 38:21
discretion 31:1
discuss 9:8

discussion 30:3
disqualified
 48:23,25
Dist 2:5,7,8,12
District 3:18,20
 3:22 20:13
division 42:17
 42:17,21
doing 20:22 21:7
 21:17 26:19
 27:9
dollars 39:1,21
 40:5
DPD 34:1 36:12
DPOA 8:5
draft 33:5,21
draw 28:11
drive 24:21
due 20:17 21:20
 24:14,18
due-process
 23:14
duly 17:5 52:10
 52:12
dust 32:7

E

E 2:5,7 6:25
earlier 21:20
 38:9
early 5:14 24:5
east 39:13,25
Ebenezer 37:10
EDGAR 2:12
edits 33:2,8
effective 22:14
 24:17
effectively 23:8
efficient 44:5
effort 27:13
 29:12 36:10
efforts 24:15,19
 24:19
eight 36:21
 49:22
either 46:22
 52:16
elected 8:2,3
electronically
 33:11
eleven 11:19
Elizabeth 2:6

3:24
Ellen 52:6,20
emergency 24:1
 26:14
Employee 40:13
employees 44:8
employment 19:4
 19:14,18 21:4
encountered
 22:25
enforcement 18:1
 20:15 22:13
 39:3
engage 27:13
 32:12
engaged 21:17
 37:18
enter 45:21
entertain 33:20
entertained 37:1
entitled 21:20
Eric 40:10 41:3
especially 17:17
essence 25:15
established 22:7
 34:1
et 17:25 33:24
 37:20,20
Eva 2:9 3:7
evacuation 37:19
EVENING 1:9
event 30:4,6,12
 30:12,15 52:17
events 8:21 27:4
everybody 3:6
 29:14
exact 28:8
exactly 17:24
 18:10 29:20
example 28:20
excuse 43:12
excused 4:6
executive 2:15
 5:24 32:23
 46:21
expense 43:10
expenses 43:22
expensive 39:1
 43:25
experience 37:22
experiencing
 9:20

expires 52:25
expound 18:21
express 8:10
extensive 44:3
extremely 25:9

F

facility 12:4
fact 14:19 15:9
 16:14 19:20
 27:5,10 31:24
factors 16:21
facts 12:25 13:4
 13:12,20,20
 14:9 15:3
 16:22,23,24
 17:23 22:3,3,4
failed 49:14
fair 13:3
fairness 13:14
fallen 8:10
falls 25:10
families 8:11
 12:1 29:2
family 29:10
far 20:17 29:8
 30:21 33:22
 41:9 43:12,22
fatal 22:19
favor 4:14,25
 34:5 46:2,16
 47:20 48:15
 51:5,12
feedback 36:23
fees 39:1
fellow 50:22
felt 17:1,3
festivity 29:6
fighting 22:23
 22:23,25
final 12:8 19:14
 32:20 45:3
finalized 12:3
finally 41:21
find 22:4
findings 19:14
 20:18
fine 26:1 47:5
finished 36:10
fire 27:7 29:3
fires 24:25
 29:15 30:10

32:4
first 8:5 23:21
 31:25,25 46:23
 47:9 49:21
 52:10
five 34:18
flag 27:25
flat 49:24
floor 50:24
focused 29:13
folks 36:23
follow 22:11
 32:3,8
followed 38:13
 40:9,25
force 14:16
 16:16,17 20:19
 20:20 21:11,21
 22:6,7,9,10,11
 22:17,19,20
 23:9,9 40:15
 42:19,20,20
foregoing 52:11
forget 32:1
former 33:21
forth 52:9
forthcoming 45:9
forum 13:10
forward 12:6
 15:5 22:5 30:5
 30:8
found 22:3 23:14
Fountain 37:4
four 38:13
frame 16:15
Franklin 7:8
 19:18 42:6
frankly 14:10
 15:4,8,11
Fredia 38:13,17
Friday 35:20
front 5:21,25
 23:12 27:10
 35:19
fulfilled 41:5
full 33:23 52:14
funding 39:23
further 27:16

G

Gail 5:20 36:8
Garza 2:9 3:8

gather 38:1
gathering 29:10
 29:11
general 25:12,13
Gerald 7:4
getting 11:23
 14:11 44:6
give 8:4,7 37:5
 43:13
given 3:13 18:9
 24:25 39:2
 50:3
glad 41:4
go 12:16 17:23
 21:13 41:22
 43:7 44:7 49:8
 49:15 50:16
goes 25:5,17
 37:7
going 6:7 10:17
 12:5 13:8 14:5
 14:19 18:10,21
 19:23 21:5
 22:4 27:12
 29:6 35:17,20
 36:4 40:21
 41:5 42:17
 43:7,24 45:14
 46:5,25
good 3:5 6:10,23
 15:1 17:2 23:8
 23:22,24 32:22
 34:16 36:25
 38:15,16 41:2
 42:13 43:4,6
 51:16
Gorman 5:18 52:6
 52:20
Grace 40:4
graduated 35:21
graduation 36:12
grant 39:22,23
 39:23 42:9
 43:11
great 10:1 22:21
 23:3,4 30:12
 31:21 34:24
 38:23 39:4
 42:13
Greater 40:4
Greetings 6:24
GREGORY 2:14

group 23:5
 guess 49:14
 gulf 8:24

H

half 30:2
 Halloween 28:21
 28:24 29:1
 hand 38:11
 hands 9:1
 happen 23:11
 happened 40:20
 44:18
 happening 26:15
 happens 13:18
 19:9 21:12
 41:8
 happy 10:6 41:16
 hard 28:7
 Hayes 7:8,9
 19:18 42:6
 Hazel 8:17
 headlines 8:22
 Headquarters
 1:15 45:7
 heads 42:21
 health 11:16
 22:23
 hear 17:19,21
 18:11 29:19
 38:4 40:20
 41:4
 heard 15:21
 18:12 28:25
 hearing 8:4
 32:16 34:12
 38:6 43:11
 47:20 48:14
 51:4
 Heid 46:24 47:12
 heightened 37:12
 held 39:6,9
 43:21 45:8
 Hello 40:11
 help 44:22
 hereinbefore
 52:9
 Hewitt 7:4,4
 Hi 10:15
 Hicks 2:14 5:4,6
 6:7 34:13,15
 34:23 35:1

45:16 46:11
 47:2,6,9,25
 48:6,8,18,25
 49:17,20 51:9
 high 39:1
 high-ranking
 19:21
 high-speed 11:11
 historic 31:15
 hit 8:16 37:4
 hoc 34:11
 holding 13:15
 home 11:13,15
 12:5 21:12
 homicide 9:21
 10:8
 honest 42:12
 Honorable 23:22
 31:15,16 32:22
 hope 9:1 18:6
 39:6 44:1
 hotels 39:1
 hour 30:24
 hours 29:1 36:3
 huge 30:8
 human 5:22 9:1

I

II 2:12
 image 12:24 24:6
 immediate 5:23
 implemented 24:2
 24:5,18 42:14
 important 17:24
 30:11 38:4
 41:6
 impressed 36:3
 improper 15:8,20
 42:20
 improvements
 19:10,24
 inappropriate
 14:21
 inaudible 7:9,11
 incident 10:25
 11:4 12:18
 14:13 19:5,8,9
 44:9,21,23
 includes 33:6
 including 16:7
 27:6 33:7
 increase 24:8

incumbency 17:12
 independently
 14:8
 indicate 4:14,25
 5:14,20 34:5
 46:2,16 47:20
 48:15 51:5,12
 indicated 7:2
 14:4 21:20
 22:2 27:6
 33:23
 individual 49:23
 50:1
 information 8:13
 10:23 14:5,22
 14:23,25 15:5
 15:13,21 35:13
 39:2 41:20
 44:6,18 47:3
 infraction 25:24
 initial 14:3
 16:24
 initially 12:19
 13:19 15:19
 16:2 22:2
 initiative 42:7
 42:8
 injured 8:15
 11:10,11 23:2
 injuries 11:20
 insight 27:18
 instance 49:13
 instances 21:25
 interaction 36:6
 interest 34:20
 interested 52:17
 interim 6:11
 internal 11:2
 15:1
 international
 35:23
 interpreting
 17:20
 interview 22:5
 introduce 3:15
 5:5 6:3,13,22
 7:3
 introductions
 5:9
 investigation
 11:6 14:6,13
 15:1,11 19:15

20:18
 investigations
 17:25
 investigator 6:2
 6:12,13,14,15
 6:15,16,16,17
 12:6 36:1
 inviting 29:2
 Invocation 3:13
 involved 11:3
 12:20,23 13:3
 13:4,16 37:19
 involves 34:16
 involving 8:17
 11:1,11 48:23
 issue 10:5 11:9
 13:6 19:2
 23:13
 issues 11:17
 14:12
 item 23:19 34:12
 47:9 48:6,7
 items 9:6,9,14
 34:18 46:20

J

Jackson 7:10,10
 James 2:19 6:25
 7:1
 job 21:7,25 23:8
 35:16 43:20
 John 7:12 42:11
 joined 20:2
 JR 2:10
 judgment 13:1
 16:16 42:18
 judgments 18:2
 Justice 40:15
 juveniles 25:23

K

keep 11:18
 kids 31:1
 kind 18:11 27:7
 30:15 43:25
 kinds 26:14,15
 knew 14:14
 know 10:22 11:21
 11:23 12:23
 14:14 15:6
 16:15 17:15,22
 18:9,9 19:9

20:11,12,14,14
 20:17,21,21
 21:2,2,5,10
 26:12 27:11,17
 27:18,25 28:1
 28:8,10,11,17
 29:19 30:7,10
 30:14,25 32:6
 35:18 36:20,21
 37:1,10,11
 41:7,13,21
 46:25 49:13
knowing 13:4
known 16:5
knows 29:20
kudos 37:5

L

lady 43:8
large 6:11 37:8
 38:1 39:9
largest 29:11
Larry 7:16
Las 8:23
lastly 12:2
law 18:1 20:15
 22:13 39:3
Lawrence 6:12
lawsuit 17:18
lead 3:10
leaders 23:5
leadership 17:12
 18:5 37:23
leading 35:11
learn 19:10
learned 39:2
leave 9:12 19:2
leaving 45:11
led 23:12
left 3:16
legwork 35:19
letting 30:25
lieutenant 7:8,8
 7:14,14 19:17
 19:17 42:5,6
 42:16
life 12:1
lifelong 41:3
lifestyle 25:15
light 14:25 15:3
lightly 36:5
lights 29:14

likewise 48:18
 51:9
limited 14:5,23
line 22:14
Lisa 3:9 4:5
listed 34:19
litigious 17:15
 18:8
little 18:7
lives 11:24
 22:23 23:1
 28:4,6

local 20:15
location 45:9
locations 8:25
lock 22:14
long 21:5 41:11
 45:12 50:20
longer 27:12
look 11:5 12:6
 14:8 22:9,21
 28:8 30:5,8
 40:23
looking 29:14,20
 40:16
looks 16:18
 42:19
lot 17:16 42:15
 44:19,20
lower 29:15

M

M 40:12
ma'am 10:21
 18:20 31:13
 39:18
Madam 4:10 5:6
 15:14 17:10
 20:7 26:4,20
 33:14 34:15
 35:3 37:17
 38:12 42:25
 46:11,14 47:2
 47:25 48:18
 49:17 50:6,7
 50:19
Madrigal 6:14
maintaining 15:4
major 6:25 7:20
 7:22 19:7,8
making 12:24
Mallett 2:10

3:25 4:1 24:24
 25:3,7 26:8,20
 26:23 27:2,23
 31:23 34:24
 43:17 47:16
 48:11
man 35:19 40:22
managed 23:7
management 23:6
manager 2:15
 5:24 32:23
mandates 22:12
Mark 7:18 8:5
matter 5:9 11:5
 11:6 31:24
 39:18 48:20,23
matters 9:9
mayor 26:25 30:1
 30:14 31:16,25
mayor's 27:3
mean 6:15 28:11
 48:2 49:24
means 17:14
measures 37:20
 37:20
media 5:17 10:23
 17:17 18:14,25
meet 29:25 49:6
meeting 1:9 3:7
 4:7 5:8,10,14
 5:17 9:8 19:23
 30:1 45:5,7
 51:1,12,17
 52:8
meetings 8:9 9:7
 19:20 39:3
Meijer 11:1
 12:18 19:3,13
 19:17,22 20:11
 20:23 40:20
 44:6,24
Melanie 32:21,23
member 19:21
 40:14 42:3
members 15:2
 29:10 36:18
 42:3 50:22
men 10:3
mention 46:25
Merrill 12:4,5
met 19:17
metric 15:10

mic 35:7
Michigan 1:19
 3:1 22:12,13
 37:6 52:2,22
microphone 10:14
mind 47:3 49:18
mindful 34:16
minor 33:8,24
minors 25:11,13
 25:22
minutes 4:19,21
 5:3 20:3
misdemeanor
 25:25
misspeak 19:21
mobilization
 31:19
mobilizing 32:8
moment 12:13
 27:3
Monday 36:2
money 43:13,14
 44:4
months 12:10
 35:22
morning 36:22
morphed 29:9
morphing 29:21
 30:21
mother 8:25
motion 4:9,20
 34:9 45:15,17
 45:19 46:12,20
 46:22 47:10,14
 50:24 51:4,11
move 4:10,22 9:6
 15:11 33:25
 40:4 45:21
 46:14 47:16
 48:11 50:7
 51:9
moved 4:13 34:4
 46:16 47:18
 48:13 50:14
Moving 10:21
 23:19
municipality
 21:1

N

name 3:7 38:17
 40:11 41:3

names 46:25
nature 9:1 18:8
NCO 50:20
necessarily
 11:24
necessary 23:16
 33:20 43:10
need 9:2 28:7
 43:13 45:14,16
 45:19 46:21
needed 28:1 33:2
 37:25
needs 23:7 38:10
neighborhood
 35:8 44:1,2,2
networking 30:13
never 16:18 32:1
new 9:10 45:10
news 8:22
Nichols 6:16
night 24:7,18
 25:1,18,20,20
 26:10 28:5
 29:8,9,16 30:4
 31:18
nights 32:5
nonfatal 9:24
normal 28:2 29:1
 29:16 50:3
normalcy 11:24
 25:7 26:17
normally 18:1
Northwest 3:18
Notary 52:1,6,21
note 20:2 31:1
noted 17:5
notes 52:15
November 45:8
NPO 38:19
number 10:11
 18:12,24,25
 19:11 24:9
 26:16 28:3
 29:14 31:5
 32:4 37:24
numbers 10:1
 26:16 28:3
 30:10 38:1
numerous 20:12

O

o'clock 36:21

Oakland 52:4,22
observation
 15:18
occurring 32:4
 45:5
occurs 24:10
October 1:11 3:2
 4:9,20 24:4,9
 28:21 33:4
 45:5
off-duty 8:14
 11:12
office 2:18 7:11
 8:18 12:6 27:3
 31:25 32:1
officer 7:5,7
 11:1,4,10
 12:20,23 13:3
 13:16 19:5,11
 21:2,19 22:16
 22:20,25 23:10
 23:13 43:11
 44:14 46:24
 47:12 48:8
officer's 22:18
officers 8:11,14
 8:16 11:10,18
 11:20,22 17:12
 18:3 19:6,16
 20:15,22 21:7
 22:21,22 23:7
 29:25 30:14
 31:21 35:8,21
 35:24 36:7
 42:8
officials 8:2,3
oh 6:8 9:4 28:14
 43:17
okay 6:5 13:21
 16:12 21:14
 45:20 46:5
old 25:25 35:1,2
 38:6
on-the-spot
 13:15
open 9:7 11:5
 32:2
operations 7:2,7
 42:5
opinion 15:24
 35:9
opinions 15:25

opportunity 17:7
 19:10 27:19
 36:2 38:24
 41:21 50:4
opposed 4:17 5:2
 27:20 34:8
 46:4,19 47:23
 48:17 51:7
opposing 15:25
optics 14:10
oral 9:10 38:8
order 5:11 6:3
 46:13
organization
 23:17 31:19
organizer 35:15
outside 11:12
outstanding
 35:11,16,22
 42:19
overall 9:24
 28:19
Overwhelmingly
 21:24
Oxendine 5:20
 36:9

P

p.m. 1:13 3:3,13
 25:17,20,20
 30:23,24 45:6
 46:8,10 51:17
packet 33:12
paperwork 12:8
Park 8:17
parking 39:1,11
 43:22
part 12:11 15:10
 16:15 27:9
 33:2 34:16
participating
 31:21
particular 11:9
 13:10,13 26:17
 27:4
parties 13:4
party 52:17
pass 38:9
path 15:7
pause 16:1,1
pay 39:1 43:23
 47:12 48:10

pending 33:1
people 8:23 9:2
 13:1,11 17:14
 17:21 18:12,13
 22:5,5 27:14
 27:19 30:5
 32:8 35:23
 36:4 38:1
 41:25 42:2
 44:7,13
percent 9:21,21
 9:22,23,23,24
 9:24 10:8,17
 10:19
period 13:5 24:3
 24:3,8,13,17
 24:21 25:8,14
 25:16 26:13,18
 26:24 29:15
 31:8
periods 25:19
person 6:1 19:19
 20:20 43:23
 45:3 50:3
personally 40:18
personnel 9:8,9
perspective
 31:15
pertains 24:1
 25:11,12
petitioning 49:1
phenomenal 21:25
 36:24
phone 18:24
 20:12
piece 28:19
pieces 18:14
place 12:9 37:25
 49:4,22 52:9
places 38:1
Plaisance 12:4,5
plan 31:17 32:3
 32:8
planned 38:23
planning 7:13
 12:13
please 3:15 5:4
 9:17 10:9,13
 28:14 36:15
 38:10 39:13
 42:4,4 49:19
pleased 16:4

33:22 40:20
pleasure 6:12
plenty 39:11
 44:17
plug 28:9 29:21
point 7:9 16:9
 16:14 28:3
 34:17 39:20
 46:24
pointed 26:8,17
 30:17
points 17:17
police 1:7 2:18
 3:6 6:24 8:14
 8:17 10:4 11:1
 13:2 14:3 15:9
 17:7 20:25,25
 23:10 27:7
 30:12 31:2,20
 34:2 35:8,21
 37:13 41:23
 42:8 44:19
 46:24 47:11,12
 48:8
policies 22:7
policing 7:11
policy 6:1 20:19
 22:9,10 32:24
 32:25 33:6,17
 33:22,25 41:22
 42:11,13 44:15
political 43:3
portion 49:13,16
position 12:21
 31:3
positive 27:8
possible 49:14
possibly 18:4
posts 18:25
PR 30:12
practice 5:9
 22:21 23:3
practices 22:8
pray 3:12 9:1
 11:25
prayer 3:11
 11:18
precinct 11:8,15
 15:2 28:22
 29:3 45:9
preliminary
 32:25

presence 22:18
 27:5
present 6:4,18
 16:19,21 17:7
 22:7 41:24
 48:19
presentation
 23:20 32:20
 41:6,17
presentations
 9:5
presented 14:9
 16:5 46:23
president 7:17
 8:5 40:12,13
press 12:18
 13:15 14:3
 18:8
pretty 14:16
 16:8,19 21:22
previous 40:3
probably 22:4
 33:12 43:9
problem 23:9
 26:9
problematic
 25:10
process 21:20
 49:8,9,16,25
 50:3,9
Proctor 41:11
product 36:11
professional
 7:19 11:7
 13:23
professionals
 39:4
program 24:17,17
programming
 12:11
programs 32:12
proper 15:22
 42:19
properties 24:10
proposal 39:14
proposed 33:6
proscriptive
 27:10
prosecution 15:7
protected 18:4
provide 8:18
 14:19 37:10

41:16
provided 10:25
 14:22 32:24
providing 5:17
 15:12 41:20
public 1:15
 12:24 13:6
 16:9 24:16,20
 27:6 38:8 45:6
 52:6,21
publicly 11:22
Puerto 8:23
pull 28:9 29:21
 32:2 37:24
put 39:23 42:13
 49:3

Q

quality 12:1
question 13:22
 19:12 50:18,19
 50:23
questions 12:15
 20:6 26:3
 32:15 33:15
 45:4 47:19
 48:14 50:15
 51:4 52:11
quickly 13:15
Quinn 5:16
quite 13:18
 14:10 16:6
 33:18
quorum 5:7 46:12
 48:19
quote 24:6

R

raise 27:25
 38:10
raising 29:5
ran 42:9
rate 10:8,10,19
reach 9:2
reached 19:22
 41:12
reaching 20:21
read 47:3
really 26:7 29:7
 29:12 30:3,9
 30:25
reapply 49:3

50:8
recall 14:3
received 18:24
 20:12 33:5,9
 33:11 35:25
recognizing
 30:16
recommendation
 34:1 47:11
 48:2,3,10,21
recommendations
 33:7 46:23
reconsideration
 49:2
reconvene 9:14
 45:12
record 5:7 10:16
 24:23 28:16
 36:17 39:24
 46:9 47:7
recorded 52:13
recover 11:25
recreation 29:4
recruiting 36:10
 50:9
red 27:25
reduced 52:13
reduction 9:21
 9:21,22,25
reference 12:18
 13:16 16:3
 19:1
reflected 10:11
 29:16
reflects 48:1
regard 37:19
regarding 20:11
 30:22 33:1
 51:4
regardless 13:16
regards 11:14
 19:16 22:6
 43:8,16 44:6
 44:18,22
Reginald 2:8
 3:20
regions 8:24
regrets 6:24
regular 25:5
 46:12
regulations
 23:16 41:8

rehash 43:8
reject 46:22
related 50:24
 52:16
relates 22:1, 24
relations 13:7
relationship
 23:4 42:14
relaxed 28:23
relevant 26:11
remaining 27:10
remarks 35:16
remember 9:13
 12:4 26:24
 27:22
remind 8:21
Renaissance
 43:13
repass 43:8
repeat 44:10, 16
 49:8
report 8:4, 7
 9:16, 19 10:6
 10:10, 10, 23
 12:12, 12 23:25
 34:13, 21, 24
 35:7 38:4
Reported 11:19
reporter 5:19
reports 9:10
 34:12
representative
 25:4
representatives
 8:2, 3
REPRESENTING
 2:18
reputation 17:2
request 35:6
require 9:6
requirements
 49:6, 23 50:2
resident 41:3
resolve 10:5
 11:17
resources 5:22
respect 18:5
respond 13:11, 19
 13:23 16:2
 41:15
responded 27:19
responding 13:5

15:18
responsibility
 17:23 27:20
rest 28:4, 5
resting 11:13, 15
restraint 22:21
 23:3
Retired 40:13
retreat 12:21
retrieved 24:23
return 46:12
rewarding 37:21
Richard 4:6
Rico 8:23
right 5:24 9:20
 10:7 12:22
 14:14 17:20
 20:23 22:14, 22
 25:2 29:9
rights 7:15
 23:14 42:16, 17
rise 32:3
Rivera 6:15
robbery 9:22
Robert 2:15 5:23
Romel 7:6
Ronald 48:8
rooms 39:11
Rosalia 6:14
row 5:21, 25
RPR 52:20
rules 23:15 41:8
 41:13 42:15
runs 19:18
rush 13:1, 8
rushing 18:2

S

Safety 1:15 45:6
Sanders 2:11 4:2
 4:3, 12, 23
Saturday 35:9
 36:20
savings 25:18
saw 10:23 16:4
 22:1 24:7
saying 4:14, 25
 15:23 18:12
 28:2 29:19
 34:5 46:2, 17
 47:20 48:15
 51:5, 13

scaled 30:23
scarred 24:6
scheduled 19:23
second 4:12
 32:19 37:9
 45:24, 25 48:5
 48:6 50:12, 13
secondary 7:9
 19:4, 13, 18
 21:4 42:6
seconded 4:14
 34:3, 5 47:19
 48:14 50:15
secretary 2:14
 34:13, 23 35:1
Section 25:10
secured 42:9
security 37:21
 44:13, 13
see 5:25 13:22
 16:3 34:19
 35:23 41:9
seek 11:3
seen 24:20 40:19
semblance 11:23
Senior 6:14, 15
sense 25:7 28:6
sent 4:19
September 52:25
Sergeant 5:16
 7:4, 4, 6, 6, 10
 7:10, 12, 12, 16
 7:16
series 27:4
serious 11:16
servants 24:16
 24:20 27:6
serve 39:4
service 5:18
 43:19
Services 5:17
session 9:7, 13
 9:14, 15 34:17
 45:11, 13, 14, 22
 46:5, 7, 21
set 22:3 23:13
 52:9
sexual 9:22
share 14:2 17:6
Shelby 4:6
shelf 32:2
shooter 37:1

shooters 35:12
shooting 9:24
short 9:5 13:5
show 42:1
side 39:13, 25, 25
 40:2 44:14, 17
 44:24
sight 14:16
 21:22
sign 5:11
significant
 18:13 21:18
Sims 7:14, 14
 11:15 42:15
sir 6:19 10:16
 13:25 19:25
 26:22 37:15
 43:2
sit 41:25
sitting 3:9 5:21
 43:23
situation 14:11
 14:15 20:12, 23
 20:24 50:5
six 31:8 35:22
Sloan 6:14
Smith 41:1 42:25
 43:1, 3, 3, 7, 19
 45:3
social 18:25
society 17:15
somewhat 17:10
Sonya 6:14
sorry 6:8 7:24
 9:4 23:20, 20
 31:11 50:16
southern 8:24
Southwest 30:7
space 12:11
spaces 39:11
speak 12:22
 38:10
speaker 43:1
 45:25 50:13
speaking 43:20
special 24:1
specifically
 24:2, 12
speedy 9:1
spend 36:2, 20
 38:25 44:3
spent 35:10

39:22 40:5
spoke 40:1 44:7
 44:8
SS 52:3
staff 5:5,20,23
 6:4,13,22 7:3
 9:5 33:19
stage 36:8,11
stand 7:3 11:9
 20:24 21:9
 42:4 44:17
standards 7:17
 7:19 11:7
standing 23:19
 34:11 35:19
 44:14
standpoint 20:25
 21:1,1 37:2,7
start 8:8 9:18
 49:25 50:9
started 36:21
 42:7,8
starting 3:15
 30:23
state 22:12
 31:14 35:24
 37:6,12 52:2,7
stated 12:19
 31:23
statement 13:8
 15:20 16:9
statements 12:24
 13:2,11 16:25
 17:16 18:8
 19:1
States 22:15
stations 28:23
 29:3,3,4
status 19:3
 32:25
stay 45:13
stayed 36:22
Stein 42:4,10
stenographic
 52:15
stenographically
 52:13
step 22:14
Stephen 46:24
 47:12
store 44:7,13
story 44:10

Street 1:17
streets 27:16
struggle 11:23
studied 16:16
stuff 18:25
subject 11:3
submit 40:3
subsequent 16:25
substantive 33:7
success 30:9
 36:20
suggest 44:12
summary 33:10
summit 38:19,21
 39:22 40:1
summits 39:5,5,7
 39:12,24 40:6
supervisor 6:13
support 7:2,7
 8:10 15:8
 20:14,15 21:8
 41:12
supported 4:23
 16:25 18:3
 46:16 47:17
 48:12
supports 17:3
 21:9
supposed 44:15
 44:17
sure 17:24 27:16
 37:24 39:18
 45:12 51:2
surveying 44:20
Susanne 5:18
 52:6,20
suspend 47:11
 48:10
suspended 19:12
 19:13
sworn 52:10
system 23:6

T

take 12:9 20:17
 20:20 21:5
 26:12 27:14
 28:7 36:5
 37:25 43:24
 46:22
taken 9:9 21:18
 52:8,15

takes 6:3 21:6
talk 11:21 21:11
 28:16
talking 21:10
 26:10
tape 40:19 41:9
taping 5:17
tapped 22:8
task 40:15
tax 38:25
tax-payer 39:21
 40:5
team 36:18 37:21
 41:18 42:14
tell 14:25 16:17
 22:16 40:18
 41:19 42:1
 43:11,15
tens 31:19
tensions 32:10
terms 5:20 12:24
 13:14 19:3
 31:18 33:19
 35:16,16 36:12
terrorism 37:20
testify 52:10
thank 3:14 4:4
 4:18 5:3,6
 6:19,20 7:25
 8:1,6 9:2
 10:14,21 12:14
 17:8,9 18:15
 20:1,3,4 23:18
 26:2 29:23
 31:10 32:13,14
 32:16,18 34:9
 34:9,10,13,15
 34:22,25 36:14
 36:17,18,18
 37:15,22 38:3
 38:5 39:14,15
 39:17 40:6,7
 40:24 41:13,14
 42:21,23,24
 43:2,17 44:24
 45:1,2,18 46:6
 46:6,15 47:8
 48:4,22 50:19
 51:2,3,15
thanks 37:14
theirs 44:24
things 18:10

23:10 26:15
 27:7,8 28:20
 30:21 49:24
think 12:22 13:3
 13:9 14:7,21
 17:18,23 23:3
 23:4,5,12
 26:11 27:9,14
 28:7 30:14
 35:15 41:6
 42:12 43:9,25
 44:23
thinking 8:23
Third 1:17
thorough 44:22
thoroughly 16:7
 33:18 36:25
thought 10:10
 27:3 43:20
thousands 30:5
 31:19
three 22:11 23:1
 32:5 40:22
 46:20
three-day 24:3,3
 24:8,13,21
 25:8,14,16
 26:13 29:15
 31:8
Thursday 1:11
 38:20 45:5,8
till 19:14
time 5:4 6:3 9:4
 9:16 10:12,16
 13:5,13 14:4,9
 14:15,15,18,23
 16:18,24 21:3
 24:12,21,23
 25:18 26:18
 28:8 33:1,4,8
 33:13 34:20
 36:25 38:8
 41:7 44:1,25
 45:4 52:8
times 16:14
 17:16 24:5
tireless 24:19
today 4:9 5:18
 6:18 8:20 12:8
today's 3:6 4:7
 5:7
Todd 28:15

told 49:21
 tool 23:10 31:4
 toolbox 23:10
 31:4
 top 5:14
 topic 28:17 30:2
 town 3:10 39:8
 trainers 37:5
 training 22:13
 35:22 42:20
 transcript 52:15
 transcription
 52:14
 transition 12:9
 30:3,18
 transparent
 14:20 15:3
 transparently
 41:20
 transpired 13:21
 tremendous 21:7
 23:5 24:8,21
 31:1
 trend 9:20
 trending 10:7
 Trick 28:22
 Trisha 42:4
 troubled 40:19
 true 52:14
 Trump 40:17
 Trunk 28:22
 truth 52:10,11
 trying 13:10
 16:10
 Tucker 7:22,22
 Tuesday 33:10
 two 8:13 9:5
 11:10 14:24
 19:6,16 44:13
 type 35:13 36:6
 typical 5:19
 typically 6:3
 25:19

U

ugly 14:15 16:20
 unanimous 47:24
 48:1,19 51:8,9
 understand 13:6
 13:9 15:22
 16:11 17:11,13
 26:18

understanding
 11:12
 unfolding 22:2
 unfortunately
 16:23 22:18
 uniform 21:4
 United 22:15
 University 38:22
 40:2
 UNKNOWN 45:25
 50:13
 unquote 24:7
 update 8:19
 10:25 11:14
 14:6 15:13
 updated 33:5
 updates 8:12
 use 14:16 16:6
 16:16 20:19
 21:10,21,21
 22:10
 uses 16:17 42:19
 42:20,20
 utilize 31:1
 35:13

V

vandalism 24:10
 Vann 2:12 3:10
 3:12,15,16,17
 3:18 17:10
 18:23,24 26:4
 26:7,23 27:1
 27:21,24 29:19
 30:17 37:9,17
 47:17
 various 37:8
 Vegas 8:23
 vehicular 8:16
 vein 17:11
 vetting 35:24
 vice 3:8
 video 14:24
 16:14,21
 vigorous 27:5
 violating 25:22
 violence 40:15
 violent 9:19,25
 volunteer 29:12
 vote 9:14 33:9
 47:25 48:19

W

waiting 43:24
 walk 36:7,11
 want 5:8,12,13
 5:19 8:10,12
 9:12 16:2
 19:21 20:2,16
 20:16 29:24
 31:14 34:17
 36:12,17 37:4
 37:22 41:24
 49:13
 wanted 5:16 16:1
 20:10 28:16
 31:8 35:20
 38:18 42:1
 43:15
 wants 30:14
 watch 16:14
 Watkins 7:12,12
 42:11
 way 17:22 24:12
 27:8
 Wayne 39:10
 we'll 41:19
 we're 9:20 14:19
 17:15,24 19:23
 21:10 22:4
 25:3 26:18
 29:2,5,5,7,13
 29:20 30:17
 35:17 46:5
 we've 12:3 19:11
 24:20 28:23
 31:6 37:18
 40:16
 weeds 14:12
 week 30:2 32:24
 44:16
 weekend 26:12
 44:8
 weigh 13:14
 14:17 20:10
 welcome 3:6
 45:13
 went 16:6 31:6
 33:18 46:7,9
 46:21
 west 39:13,25
 40:2
 White 2:19 6:1
 6:22,23 7:1,24

8:13 9:18
 10:19,21 13:24
 14:1 16:11,13
 19:7 21:16
 32:21,22,23
 33:19 34:10
 39:17 41:16
 43:4 45:1
 who've 18:13
 William 7:14
 38:13 40:12
 42:15
 Willie 2:5,7
 3:21
 wisdom 49:25
 wish 43:15
 witness 16:20
 52:9,12
 witnessed 15:19
 15:22 16:2,7
 women 10:4
 wonder 27:25
 wonderful 30:13
 43:20
 word 22:6
 words 49:7
 work 10:3,5
 11:25 31:20
 41:25 42:1,2
 worked 36:9
 working 12:7
 17:14 21:3,3
 30:17 33:19
 41:20 42:14
 workshops 38:24
 wouldn't 28:8,9
 36:19
 writers 42:12
 wrongdoing 13:12
 13:22
 wrote 31:16,17
 39:22
 Wyrick 5:25
 23:21,22,25
 25:2,6 32:17
 32:18

X

Y

Yeah 27:23 28:14
 year 11:20 21:24

24:4 28:5,18
 28:20,23 30:5
 30:22,23 31:5
 31:7,24,25
 32:1 38:20
 40:4 41:4
yearly 39:6
years 25:8,13,25
 26:16 27:22
 28:3 31:22
 32:6 38:22
 49:22
yellow/amber
 29:13
young 31:16
 35:23 40:21
 43:8
youth 31:5,8
 32:10,12

Z

zealous 24:15

0

1

10:00 25:20
11 9:23 22:22,25
11:00 25:20
12 12:10
12th 4:20 11:8
 15:2
13 9:22
1301 1:17
14 9:22 52:25
15 43:23,25
15- 25:16
16 33:4
16-year-olds
 25:17
17 25:13,25
17-year-olds
 25:21
19 1:11 3:2
1980s 24:6
1984 24:13
19th 4:9

2

2 2:12 3:18
20 27:21
2013 31:5

2015 24:23
2017 1:11 3:2
 24:4 33:4
2023 52:25
225 36:23
26 24:22
26th 45:6
28 35:21
29th 24:4,9

3

3 2:8 3:20
3:00 1:13 3:3
 45:6
3:01 3:13
3:55 46:7
30 25:8
30- 24:16
30,000 27:15
31 25:8
31-year 24:16
31st 24:4,9
 28:22
33 25:10
359 47:13

4

4 2:5 3:22
48226 1:19
4825 48:9

5

5 2:7 9:21,23
5:28 46:9
5:34 51:17
500 26:1
503,000 21:23
57 16:14
59 10:16,19
5th 20:13

6

6 9:20
6:00 30:23
6:30 45:8
62 10:8
6th 45:9

7

7 9:24
7:00 25:17 30:24
7th 11:15

8

810 24:14

9

9 40:14
9th 45:8